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CITY AIR SHALL SET YOU FREE, walking tour 

 

 

START: supposed location of the Riga Gate (area between Nikolai 7 and 12) 

FINISH: Model of the medieval New-Pªrnu (ìhtu 1); might be under snow/ice in 

wintertime 

DURATION: 1.5h on average  

 

 
 

1. Illustration. Map for the walking tour Points 1ï15.  

NB! The map serves an illustrative purpose, i.e. the actual layout of streets, buildings, 

castle walls and town walls may differ from what is depicted on the map.  

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

There is not a lot left of New-Pªrnu (current old town of Pªrnu) from the times of the 

Hanseatic League.  

One of the several fires that ravaged New-Pªrnu in the beginning of the 16th century 

also completely destroyed the archive of the town hall (privileges, books and other 

important documents).  

The oldest buildings were destroyed during World War II. The only medieval 

building that has survived is the Red Tower.  

 

However, a more attentive pedestrian can find signs of medieval city wall elements 

marked on the pavement in the city space.  
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The street network in the old town of Pªrnu, as well as many street names, date back 

to the Hanseatic times.  

 

The route of the walking tour focuses primarily on areas inside the town and castle 

walls (see points 1ï15 on the map), the bike tour will take explorers outside of the 

town walls of New-Pªrnu as well, and to Old-Pªrnu (which is currently a district of 

Pªrnu by the same name), see points 16ï20 on the map.  

 

Read more... 

 

The Estonian Middle Ages began when Crusaders conquered our lands 

at the start of the 13th century. Soon after, the following Crusader states 

were created: The Livonian Order (Livonian branch of the Teutonic 

Order), the Bishopric of ¥selïWiek and the Bishopric of Dorpat; 

Northern Estonia belonged to Denmark until 1346. 

 

New-Pªrnu on the left bank of the Pªrnu River and Old-Pªrnu at the 

river mouth on the right bank of the Pªrnu River were two independent 

towns in the Middle Ages. New-Pªrnu was on the territory of the 

Livonian Order, whereas Old-Pªrnu was on the lands of the Bishopric of 

¥selïWiek.  

Old-Pªrnu (named Perona at the time) was established first, in 1251 at 

the latest, as a capital of the Bishopric of ¥selïWiek. In February of 

1263, Lithuanians attacked and destroyed Old-Pªrnu. Townspeople who 

no longer had homes decided to move to the opposite riverbank. The 

Teutonic Order built a castle there to protect the townspeople, who then 

took to living in front of the castle.  

On Resurrection Sunday, April 5, 1265, New-Pªrnu (which was initially 

given the name Embecke (Emaj»gi) after the large waterway, which 

began at that spot back then and led to Pskov, however, people did not 

like that name and called it New-Pªrnu) was given town privileges, with 

which the townôs territory was marked between the river and the sea and 

up to the mouth of the Reiu River. The town was also given trading and 

fishing rights on the river and in the sea, and a third of the Commanderôs 

judicial income was allocated to secure and develop the town. No such 

privileges were given in Episcopal towns. 

 

Only New-Pªrnu was part of the Hanseatic League created in 1282. At 

that time, the entire region governed by the Lord of New-Pªrnu (a ruler 

who was virtually independent from the central power, Masters of the 

Livonian Order were Lords of the lands of New-Pªrnu) was part of the 

Hanseatic League. New-Pªrnu, as the only seaport of the Livonian Order 

at the time, had likely been a member of the Hanseatic Union since its 

foundation. Applying Hanseatic town rights to New-Pªrnu was likely 

successful due to the interests of the Order and its support.  

 

The Middle Ages on our lands ended with the period of wars that started 

in 1558; the same period also marks the downfall of the Hanseatic 

League.  

 

https://et.wikipedia.org/wiki/1251
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The name of the tour ñCity air shall set you freeò comes from a rule enforced in the 

Hanseatic times, according to which peasants who had spent at least 1 year and 1 day 

in the city, without their manorial lords finding them, could become free and their 

lords no longer had the right to claim them back. This is the inspiration behind the 

saying ñCity air shall set you freeò.  

Towns were not always eager to out the peasants as people where needed for simpler 

jobs in town, and incomers from the countryside did increase the townôs population.  

 

Read more... 

 

The conditions of accepting new citizens to the town of New-Pªrnu are 

not well known. On the basis of Riga Law, which was implemented in 

New-Pªrnu, everyone who paid 12 ºres of citizenship money could 

become a citizen of the town. By the 16th century, this sum had increased 

to half a mark. There is no information about citizensô annual 

obligations, primarily financial obligations (potential collections of the 

citizensô money, etc), in that period. It is known that the Town Council 

encouraged the immigration of Germans, but as they could not fill all the 

necessary posts and New-Pªrnu needed a constant influx of people, even 

if the Order and manorial lords wanted to stop migration from villages to 

towns, the town still had to fight for its survival. At the end of the 

Hanseatic times, when serfdom was emerging, peasants found it 

increasingly difficult to move to town, as manorial lords demanded their 

unconditional extradition. Livonian towns did not agree to this. In 1543, 

the Riga Law was amended so that the rule of living in a town for 1 year 

was lengthened to 2 years. Manorial lords demanded the time period be 

30 years. However, this notion was absurd from the townsô point of view 

and was not enforced in New-Pªrnu.  

 

The case of one Estonian mason, Andreas Block, is well known. He had been living 

in New-Pªrnu for a long time, he even owned property. However, his lord Johann 

Slippenbecke, manorial lord of the Pornuse manor (near Viljandi), did not agree to 

him moving to town and only approved of his status of a free townsman 15 years after 

Bock had arrived in town, and only when Bock had bought himself free from 

Slippenbecke.  

 

We can imagine how an escaped peasant might have come into contact with various 

objects we come across during the tour, in which district of New-Pªrnu they might 

have lived, what their home might have been like, how they might have earned their 

living, what they might have eaten and worn... 

 

Participants of the tour will gain insight about what life was like in Hanseatic New-

Pªrnu and its suburban area, what kind of relations did New-Pªrnu and Old-Pªrnu 

have, and what role did the guild have in the organisation of medieval city life. 
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START OF THE TOUR 

 

1. Riga Gate 

 

The approximate area between Nikolai 7 (a yellow commercial building) and 

12 (a green commercial building), see point 1 on the map.  

 

The red contour line on the map marks the town and castle walls in the 

Hanseatic times. The territory of the castle has been marked with diagonal 

lines, the area that belonged to the town is marked with dots. The contour line 

is discontinued at the location of the gate. Towers have been marked with 

circles, half-towers with semi-circles. The map serves an illustrative purpose.  

 

A land route, which was in use already in the 13th century, lead to Riga, 

starting from the Riga Gate and following the coastline. A more direct route 

would have been through the Cattle Gate (see point 8 on the map), but the 

road conditions were better when headed through the Riga Gate.  

 

This first point gives a great overview of the entire town wall, moat, towers, 

other gates, main streets and general image of the town.  

 

New-Pªrnu was surrounded by a rampart .  

 

Read more... 

 

This rule did not apply to all medieval towns of the region.  

There were 9 towns, 2 of them big, on the Estonian territory in 

medieval times: Tallinn and Tartu, plus 7 smaller towns: Rakvere, 

Paide, Narva, Viljandi, Haapsalu, New- and Old-Pªrnu. Four of 

those, in turn, belonged to the Hanseatic League: Tallinn, Tartu, 

Viljandi and New-Pªrnu. Other medieval small towns that had 

town walls around them were Viljandi and Narva (Haapsalu was 

at least partially surrounded).  

 

The town was founded on sand dunes, which were in the east-west direction. 

The entire rampart of New-Pªrnu was allegedly surrounded with a moat, the 

width of which reached 19 metres in places.  

The town walls provided protection from enemies and gave the townspeople a 

sense of security as fixed rights and rules had been established.  

The maximum height of the New-Pªrnu town wall might have been up to 8 

metres and it was up to 2 metres thick in some places.  

The town wall of New-Pªrnu definitely included the following two towers: 

The Red Tower (read point 7, see point 7 on the map) and the Viljandi Tower, 

aka the Gunpowder Tower (read point 9).  

 

In addition to the Riga Gate, other important gates in the city wall included 

the River Gate (read point 12) and the Guild Room Gate (read point 10); the 

city wall also included The Coastal Gate (see letter B on the map), the Water 

Gate (see letter G on the map), the Cattle Gate (see point 8) and the Small 

River Gate (see letter F on the map).  
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Medieval New-Pªrnu did not take up a lot of space. Prior to the 15th century, 

the town had covered about 5 ha; the town was expanded to the east and 

southwest at the end of the Middle Ages. The town then covered a bit over 6 

ha (320 metres from west to east, 201 m from north to south), thereby being 

about two thirds bigger than castleôs territory.  

 

The street network of New-Pªrnu was poorly developed. There was a big 

street on the west-east direction called the Lange strate (Pikk tªnav). On the 

Cattle Gate side the same street was also called the Cattle street (Karja tªnav). 

There were to big streets on the north-west direction: the townôs main street 

Riia (Rigische strate) and the P¿havaimu street, (Hilligen Geistes strate), the 

riverside part of the latter was also called the Kompanii street (Kumpenye 

strate).  

The Vªike J»etªnav, which lead from the market square to the river (see point 

13 on the map), has also been mentioned. Other narrow streets were called 

small or narrow streets. The narrow street that passed in front of the St. 

Nicholas Church and crossed the P¿havaimu street was just called a narrow 

street (enge strate).  

 

Life in town was similar to life in villages: the streets were either wood-paved 

or not paved at all, domestic animals were free to roam the streets and one 

could see a few wooden houses, which were in poor condition, here and there. 

Cobblestone pavement had been used in a few places (e.g. in the market 

square).  

The upkeep of streets was the obligation of the townspeople, the Town 

Council was responsible only for public squares.  

Town maintenance required that everyone takes their trash out of the town 

themselves.  

 

2. Basement floor of a residential building  

 

Through the glass windows on the first floor of the commercial building on 

Nikolai 10, one can see, through the floor of the first floor, the basement floor 

of the residential building from the Hanseatic period, see point 2 on the map.  

 

There are no fully preserved residential buildings from the Hanseatic period 

in Pªrnu.  

 

Medieval New-Pªrnu had various types of buildings: wooden houses, 

Fachwerk buildings (with a decorative wall construction where the multi-

directional timber frame surrounds surfaces coated in plaster), stone houses, as 

well as mixed-type residential buildings where the living room might have 

been made of stone and the hall made of timber.  

In the first half of the 16th century, stone houses had already started to 

dominate in New-Pªrnu; there were 67 stone houses on 111 lots.  

 

Read more... 
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Expenses on heating and lighting in homes were the most 

significant differences in the living conditions of different social 

classes. Building types were socially differentiated, but peopleôs 

economic situation definitely played a role in their means and 

opportunities as well.  

In addition to stone houses, there were plenty of wooden 

buildings in the town (residential houses, outbuildings). However, 

wooden houses were often destroyed in fires. Citizens Regulation 

provided, in relation to fire safety, that everyone should monitor 

their own fire so that it does not get out of hand!  

 

The most characteristic type of residential buildings in the 

Hanseatic times was bude ï a store-front dwelling. Bude is a 

miniature form of the diele type residential building; a bude might 

have been as small as 25 square metres. Bude had glass windows 

and a wide cargo hatch. There were budes in which people did 

not live as well. Those only served a commercial purpose.  

In addition to store-front dwellings, there were also cellar 

dwellings in town. Cellar dwellings were home to poorer 

townspeople.  

Low German style residential houses, characteristic to Hanseatic 

towns, were popular among wealthier townspeople of New-

Pªrnu. The gables of saddle roofs of high buildings were directed 

towards the street. Well-built cellars were very common, there 

was a big hall, i.e. a diele on the first floor of the building and a 

heated living room, i.e. a dornse behind it. The hall might have 

covered 60ï100 square metres, light was provided by 1ï2 high 

facade windows. There was an open kitchen with a mantel 

chimney in a corner of the hall. During warmer seasons, a great 

deal of daily life and activities took place in the diele (it served as 

an office, storeroom and workshop). However, in cold winters, 

the temperature in a diele could drop to zero despite the use of a 

fireplace. A door lead from diele to dornse. Wealthier merchants 

may have had several dornses, at least one of which was a private 

room for the family. In the households of poorer people, dornse 

also served the purpose of public space. People ate, practiced 

handicrafts and slept in a dornse.  

It is known that in the beginning of the 16th century, the homes of 

rich burghers had far more differentiated rooms than the regular 

medieval diele-dornse distinction. Some houses had several 

chambers in addition to a dornse. A chamber was a room used 

primarily as a bedroom. The upper floors of merchantsô homes in 

New-Pªrnu were used to store grain in wooden boxes. There was 

a winch in the attic used to heave up goods through the hatches 

on gable.  

 

Residential houses by the street normally had a courtyard behind 

them, which usually included a two-storey wooden house, where 

the first floor housed stables and sheds, the second floor 

contained living quarters of servants. The upper floor usually had 
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an open balcony, which one could reach by taking external 

wooden stairs. This type of courtyard buildings were common in 

Pªrnu up to the 18th century. 

A well-lit room, one with a glass window was a real luxury. Due 

to their high cost, glass windows were only used in the houses of 

the nobility and wealthy burghers, as well as important public 

buildings. Instead of glass, people used parchment, linen fabric, 

etc. In residential buildings, glass windows were installed only 

for the best rooms. Sometimes, only a part of a window had glass 

on it. The growing popularity of glass windows brought along an 

increase in glaziers in New-Pªrnu.  

Tower ovens came into use by the 15th century at the latest. As of 

the 16th century, wealthier households in New-Pªrnu also 

included fireplaces made of embossed and glazed tiles.  

 

 

 
 

2. Illustration. A photograph taken in the 1920s of the Pikk (long) street, 

which was part of the street network dating back to medieval Pªrnu. Medieval 

buildings on the right. Photo from the collection of the Pªrnu Museum.  

 

Depending on the lifestyle of the townspeople, their houses might have had 

several outbuildings: sheds with cellars, cellars, wine cellars, stables, barns, 

hay barns, taverns, stores, etc. Some of those buildings were situated near the 

living quarters, on the same plot, either within the town walls or outside of 

them.  

Outbuildings reflected their ownerôs profession or economic means. The 

houses of poorer townspeople may have had no outbuildings at all. Cellars and 

barns were needed for storing goods, stores for selling said goods, etc.  
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Read more... 

 

The area that became associated with horses was the area 

surrounding the St. Gertrudeôs Chapel (see letter A on the map); 

the stable of the Commander of the castle, the stable that 

belonged to Johann Heise, was close by. The St. Gertrudeôs 

Church (or Chapel) was situated in the town walls, right next to 

the external south-wall of the castle. It is known that a horsemill 

later stood at the same spot. Horsemills were used when the mills 

situated outside of the town walls could not be used for some 

reason (e.g. when the castle was surrounded by enemy forces, 

etc.).  

 

3. St. Nicholas Church 

 

The memorial stone of the St. Nicholas Church has been placed in the former 

churchyard, at the crossing point of the Nikolai and the Malmº street, right 

under a big oak tree, see point 3 on the map.  

 

A spot in the close vicinity of the market square, presumably marks the 

location of the main church of New-Pªrnu, built at the beginning of the 14th 

century: The St. Nicholas Church with the Holy Cross Chapel, churchyard 

and a stone sauna built in 1543. There was also a well at the St. Nicholas 

Church. The Church was dedicated to St. Nicholas who, among other things, 

was the patron saint of merchants. Therefore, the St. Nicholas Church was first 

and foremost a sanctuary for merchants.  

 

Read more... 

 

The north side of the church had the most important relic in New-

Pªrnu ï the Black Cross. People went to the cross a lot, bringing 

donations. One hypothesis is that the cross is actually a 

miraculously preserved altar cross from the Dome Cathedral of 

Old-Pªrnu, which burned down in 1263.  

The coat of arms of New-Pªrnu is one proof of this hypothesis. To 

be precise, the townôs coat of arms, which dates back to the 14th 

century, depicts a key and a hand holding a cross. It is very likely 

that this is an image of the Black Cross.  

 

The church had an indisputably important role in the lives of 

medieval inhabitants of New-Pªrnu. Peopleôs pace of life was 

determined by church holidays. Every guild had its own chapel in 

the church. One could notice a great number of people dressed in 

clerical clothing (monks, priests) in town.  

The town was also visited by a large number of pilgrims, who 

carried news to Pªrnu from the rest of the world. 

 

Unlike other larger towns in Livonia, teachings of the new gospel 

reached Pªrnu a lot slower. After the great fire of 1524, the town 
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used the opportune situation and a reformation was carried out 

with support from the citizens (a religious reformation started at 

the beginning of the 16th century, the result of which was that the 

so-called reformed branches were separated from the Catholic 

Church; the main separated branches were Lutheranism, 

Calvinism and the Anglican Church) in the March of 1525. Even 

though the churchôs assets went to the Town Council, which was 

then responsible for the upkeep of churches and priests, the 

iconoclastic attacks (ritual act of violence directed at holy 

pictures and statuary) still took place in Pªrnu a year later. After 

iconoclasm, work was begun in New-Pªrnu on the evangelical 

church.   

 

 
 

3. Illustration. Reproduction from the St. Nicholas Church Collection of the 

Pªrnu Museum.  

 

https://et.wikipedia.org/wiki/Katoliku_kirik
https://et.wikipedia.org/wiki/Katoliku_kirik
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4. Illustration. Interior of the St. Nicholas Church in the 1930s. Digital 

collection of the Pªrnu Museum.  
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5. Illustration. Interior of the St. Nicholas Church in the 1930s, before World 

War II. Digital collection of the Pªrnu Museum.  

 



 12/26 

 
 

6. Illustration. St. Nicholas Church after the bombing of September 1944. The 

ruins were blown up in 1954. Collection of the Pªrnu Museum.  

 

 

 

 

 


